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B. Presented by the Respondent 
 

1. Terri Sommer 
 
2. Robert A. Berkman, M.D. 
 

II. Exhibits Examined 
 

A. Presented by the State 
 

1. State’s Exhibits 1A-1N:  Procedural exhibits.  
 
2. State’s Exhibit 2:  Certified copy of the Information filed in the United States 

District Court for the District of Delaware in United States of America v. 
Robert A. Berkman, M.D., Criminal Action No. 03-45 [U.S. v. Berkman]. 
(Note:  The Hearing Examiner numbered the pages of this exhibit post-
hearing.) 

 
3. State’s Exhibit 3:  Certified copy of the Waiver of Indictment filed in U.S. v. 

Berkman. 
 
4. State’s Exhibit 5:  Certified copy of the Memorandum of Plea Agreement filed in 

U.S. v. Berkman. 
 
5. State’s Exhibit 6:  Certified copy of the Judgment in U.S. v. Berkman. 
 
6. State’s Exhibit 7:  Certified transcript of the July 17, 2003, plea hearing in U.S. 

v. Berkman. 
 
7. State’s Exhibit 8:  Certified transcript of the November 6, 2003, sentencing 

hearing in U.S. v. Berkman. 
 
B. Presented by the Respondent 
 

1. Respondent’s Exhibit A:  Copies of the cover of a Zoladex box, with and without 
labeling covering the words “not for retail sale.” 

 
2. Respondent’s Exhibit B:  Copy of an April 19, 1997, handwritten agreement 

between an AstraZeneca sales representative and Robert A. Berkman, M.D. 
 
3. Respondent’s Exhibit C:  Curriculum vitae of Dr. Berkman. (Note:  The office 

address on page one is no longer current; Dr. Berkman has closed his practice.  
See Hearing Transcript at 67.) 
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4. Respondent’s Exhibit D:  Copy of AstraZeneca Pleads Guilty in Cancer 
Medicine Scheme, an article by Melody Petersen that appeared in the New York 
Times on June 21, 2003. 

 
5. Respondent’s Exhibit E:  Copy of AstraZeneca to Settle Fraud Charges, an 

article by Scott Hensley that appeared in the Wall Street Journal. 
 
6. Respondent’s Exhibit F:  Copy of Doctors in Legal Trouble for Billing for Free 

Drug Samples, an article by Tanya Albert that appeared in American Medical 
News. 

 
7. Respondent’s Exhibit G:  Copy of AUA Brings Important Message about 

Payment Crisis to Key Lawmakers, an article by Cherie McNett that appeared in 
the June 2003 issue of Health Policy Brief, issued by the American Urological 
Association, Inc. 

 
8. Respondent’s Exhibit H:  February 5, 2004, letter to the Board from Joseph J. 

Farnan, Jr., Judge of the United States District Court, District of Delaware. 
 

* 9. Respondent’s Exhibit I:  April 9, 2004, letter in support of Dr. Berkman.  
 

10. Respondent’s Exhibit J:  April 8, 2004, letter in support of Dr. Berkman from 
Charles L. Ewell, Jr., M.D. 

 
* 11. Respondent’s Exhibit K:  April 8, 2004, letter in support of Dr. Berkman. 
 
* 12. Respondent’s Exhibit L:  August 6, 2003, letter in support of Dr. Berkman. 
 
* 13. Respondent’s Exhibit M:  Copies of letters from medical professionals (many of 

whom were also patients) in support of Dr. Berkman that were submitted to the 
court in U.S. v. Berkman. 

 
* 14. Respondent’s Exhibit N1:  Copies of letters from patients in support of 

Dr. Berkman that were submitted to the court in U.S. v. Berkman. 
 
15. Respondent’s Exhibit N2:  Copies of letters in support of Dr. Berkman from his 

son and daughter, which were submitted to the court in U.S. v. Berkman.  
 
16. Respondent’s Exhibit O:  Copy of a March 18, 2004, Consent Order of the New 

Jersey State Board of Medical Examiners. 
 
17. Respondent’s Exhibit P:  Copy of an April 8, 2004, Consent Agreement and 

Order issued by the New York State Board for Professional Medical Conduct. 
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18. Respondent’s Exhibit Q:  April 30, 2004, Affidavit of Dr. Berkman. 
 

* (Note:  Exhibits marked with as asterisk [*] are sealed to protect patient confidentiality). 
 
 

PROCEDURAL MATTERS 
 

1. The Hearing Examiner held the record open until May 3, 2004, so that Respondent could 
supplement Respondent’s Exhibit G, originally presented as a partial copy of an article.  
Respondent timely submitted the complete copy of the article and it was admitted to the 
record without objection.   

 
2. The Respondent also submitted an April 30, 2004, affidavit of Dr. Berkman.  The State did 

not object to its admission; therefore, the Hearing Examiner admitted the affidavit as 
Respondent’s Exhibit Q. 

 
 

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE 
 

All exhibits and transcripts of testimony, even if not specifically mentioned, were thoroughly 
reviewed and considered by the Hearing Examiner prior to preparing this Report and 
Recommendation. 
 
1. Robert A. Berkman, M.D., testified that he had received his medical degree in 1972 from 

Albany Medical College of Union University, in Albany, New York.  Dr. Berkman spent 
two years in a general surgery residency at Albany Medical Center Hospital.  In 1976, he 
received a doctoral degree in human physiology from Albany Medical College.  From 1976 
through 1977, he participated in a urology residency program at Mount Sinai Hospital in 
New York City and, from 1978 through 1980, he participated in residency programs in 
general surgery and urology at the University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey in 
Newark, New Jersey.  Dr. Berkman testified that he had completed his residency in urology 
in 1980.  Dr. Berkman states that he was certified by the American Board of Urology in 
1982. (Hearing Transcript [Tr.] at 14-16; Respondent’s Exhibit [Resp. Ex.] C). 

 
 After completing his training in 1980, Dr. Berkman moved to Columbus, Ohio to practice 

urology.  He testified that he had moved to Columbus because he had liked the Midwest 
and the quality of life here.  His urology practice was a standard one, with “significant 
teaching of residents” affiliated with Ohio State University and the Cleveland Clinic 
Foundation.  Dr. Berkman practiced urology in Columbus for thirty years.  Dr. Berkman 
testified, however, that he had recently closed his practice because he can no longer afford 
malpractice insurance.  Dr. Berkman believes that his malpractice insurance premiums 
have become cost-prohibitive because of the felony conviction that is presently at issue 
before the Board. (Tr. at 13-14, 17-19, 22, 27, 64-65, 67-68; Resp. Ex. C).   
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 Dr. Berkman has also relinquished all of his hospital privileges, but he previously had 
privileges at many local hospitals.  Dr. Berkman served as Chairman of the Department of 
Urology at Mount Carmel East from 1995 until the closing of his practice.  He has also 
served as a member of the Central Quality Peer Review Committee of Mount Carmel East. 
(Tr. at 18-19, 64-65; Resp. Ex. C). 

 
2. On May 19, 2003, an Information was issued in the United Sates District Court for the 

District of Delaware in United States of America v. Robert A. Berkman, M.D., Criminal 
Action No. 03-45 [U.S. v. Berkman]. (State’s Exhibit [St. Ex.] 2).  The Information 
included the following allegations:    
 
• Dr. Berkman practiced urology in Columbus, Ohio.  During the course of his practice, 

Dr. Berkman prescribed Zoladex for some of his patients who were suffering from 
prostate cancer.  Dr. Berkman obtained the Zoladex from a company referred to in the 
Information as “Company Y.” (St. Ex. 2 at 1) 

 
• Zoladex was administered in pellet form, by injection, typically with local anesthetic 

into the skin of the patients abdomen, by a physician or a nurse under the supervision 
of a physician.  A patient being treated with Zoladex for prostate cancer typically 
receives monthly or quarterly injections of Zoladex for the remainder of his life. 
(St. Ex. 2 at 2).  

 
• At all times relevant to the Information, it was a crime for an employee of a company 

engaged in the lawful distribution of drugs to provide a drug sample free of charge to 
a physician with the expectation that the physician would use that dose or sample in 
the treatment of a patient and thereafter bill either the patient or the patient’s 
insurance company for that drug sample. (St. Ex. 2 at 2).   

 
• Between February 1994 and July 1996, Dr. Berkman received approximately 223 one 

month samples of Zoladex from Company Y free of charge.  During that time, 
Dr. Berkman administered those free doses to patients and submitted claims to the 
patients and to the patients’ insurers and was paid for at least 220 of the free doses.  
(St. Ex. 2 at 2-3).   

 
• Dr. Berkman and Company Y “did knowingly and willfully” conspire to violate the 

law by submitting claims for payment to patients and patients’ insurers for the doses 
Zoladex that had been provided to Dr. Berkman free of charge. (St. Ex. 2 at 3). 

 
• The core objective of the conspiracy was to obtain money from the patient’s insurers 

through the prescription of Zoladex.  It was the objective of Company Y to provide free 
samples of Zoladex, as well as other things of value, including money, to physicians as 
an inducement to those physicians to order Zoladex.  It was an objective of 
Dr. Berkman to bill for the free doses in order to increase his income. (St. Ex. 2 at 3) 
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3.  On July 17, 2003, in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, 
Dr. Berkman pleaded guilty to one felony count of Conspiracy to Violate the Prescription 
Drug Marketing Act, a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. (St. Ex. 7 
at 1, 4, 17; St. Ex. 2 at 5).  In submitting his guilty plea, Dr. Berkman stated to the judge,  

 
 I have violated federal law, your Honor.  I should have understood that the 

Medicare system was a reimbursement system and that it was not a for-profit 
system.  That was my first error.   

 
 My second was that I was engaged in the use of the medication Zoladex and 

the pharmaceutical company, AstraZeneca, presented to me incentives relative 
to the purchase and securement of the medication, and advising me that it 
could be used for enhancing revenues in my practice by virtue of purchase 
agreements and incentives and implications, I accepted them, your Honor.  

 
 I take responsibility for that.  They purported that it was appropriate.  I realize 

now that it was not and the discounts that I received, I realize that I should 
have reported them, but I did not.   

 
 (St. Ex. 7 at 8).   
 
 In the plea agreement, Dr. Berkman admitted that he had received more than $84,448.06 

from billing for the free samples of Zoladex.  Moreover, the government agreed not to 
oppose a reduction in sentencing in consideration of Dr. Berkman’s “affirmative 
acceptance of responsibility.” (St. Ex. 5 at 1).  

 
 On November 6, 2003, the court found Dr. Berkman guilty and sentenced him to serve one 

year of unsupervised probation.  The court also ordered Dr. Berkman to pay $84,448.06 in 
restitution and a $10,000 fine.  Dr. Berkman testified that he has paid his restitution and 
fine. (Tr. at 21-22; St. Ex. 6; St. Ex. 8 at 1, 7-8). 

 
 In imposing the sentence, the judge made the following statement to Dr. Berkman:   
 

I’ve told the other doctors that in my view, the perpetrator here was the drug 
company and the sales representatives.  I told the last doctor who was here if 
he felt that he was being treated unjustly, his feeling is correct he was being 
treated unjustly.  The only thing I can do is downwardly depart [from the 
Sentencing Guidelines] which I’m going to do.  

 
 (St. Ex. 8 at 7).  (Note: Judge Joseph J. Farnan, Jr., the district court judge, included these 

comments and other statements in support of Dr. Berkman in a February 5, 2004, letter to 
the Board.  See Resp. Ex. H.)   

 



Report and Recommendation 
In the Matter of Robert A. Berkman, M.D. 
Page 7 

4. Various newspaper articles were submitted at hearing to provide information regarding the 
federal government’s investigation of AstraZeneca, the large pharmaceutical company that 
marketed Zoladex, a prostate-cancer drug. (Tr. at 20; Resp. Exs. D, E, F).  In one of those 
articles, the Wall Street Journal reported: 

 
The government alleged that sales representatives for [AstraZeneca] provided 
as many as 400 doctors with large numbers of free samples of Zoladex, used 
to treat prostate cancer, to win future business from the doctors. 
 
The company, prosecutors allege, knew the doctors would profit by falsely 
charging government insurance programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, 
for the samples.  Zoladex, which doctors inject into patients in the office, is 
one of a small number of drugs paid for by Medicare. 
 
Doctors could make about a $300 profit by billing the government for a one-
month dose of Zoladex that they received free, the government said.  Two 
doctors have pleaded guilty to falsely billing the government for the free 
samples.  A third doctor was charged last month.   
 
Enriched by these profits, the doctors would then be inclined to buy Zoladex 
instead of other medicines, the government said.  The scheme was designed to 
boost the sales and market share of Zoladex. 

 
 (Resp. Ex. E). 
 
 The New York Times reported about another aspect of the scheme: 
 

Mr. Andrews [a federal prosecutor] said that AstraZeneca had reported false 
and inflated prices for Zoladex to the federal government so that doctors could 
earn significant profits by prescribing the drug.  Medicare reimbursed the 
doctors based on the inflated prices that AstraZeneca reported, he said, while 
the company charged doctors for the drug at deep discounts.   
 
For example, the company reported to the government that the average 
wholesale price for a monthly dose of Zoladex was about $300, prosecutors 
said, but doctors were charged about $170 for that dose.  That resulted in a 
$130 profit to the doctor, the government said. 
 

 (Resp. Ex. D). 
 
 AstraZeneca pleaded guilty to a felony charge of health care fraud and agreed to pay 

$355 million to settle criminal and civil accusations of wrongdoing. (Resp. Ex. D, E). 
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5. At hearing, Dr. Berkman testified that Zoladex is a medication that is used to treat prostate 
cancer.  It is implanted under the skin of the abdomen via a syringe.  Dr. Berkman 
explained that the more commonly used equivalent to Zoladex was Lupron, marketed by 
Tap Pharmaceuticals.  Lupron is a liquid that is administered as an intramuscular injection.  
Dr. Berkman testified that he had used Zoladex rather than Lupron because he felt that 
there were increased risks with Lupron, and because Lupron was three times more 
expensive than Zoladex. (Tr. at 23-26, 63). 

 
 [Note:  The New York Times article and an article in American Medical News state that 

Tap Pharmaceuticals has also been criminally investigated for unlawful marketing 
practices in its sales of Lupron. (Resp. Ex. D; Resp. Ex. F at 2)].  

 
 Dr. Berkman explained that, before his relationship with AstraZeneca, he had never 

ordered directly from a pharmaceutical company.  Rather, he had dealt with third-party 
vendors.  He had received free samples of other drugs, but he had never charged for any of 
those free samples.  He had billed for the samples of Zoladex, he testified, because he had 
believed that he had paid for the samples, that they were not “free” samples, and that they 
had been salable.  He testified that he had not known that his actions were unlawful. 
(Tr. at 28-31, 33, 38, 89-90, 95).   

 
 Dr. Berkman testified that, when he began purchasing Zoladex, AstraZeneca’s sales 

representatives had advised him that he could receive a “volume discount” if he purchased 
more of the product.  Dr. Berkman testified that the discount would often be given “in 
product,” e.g. eight doses for the price of seven.  Dr. Berkman testified that it was the extra 
dose, the eighth dose, that the government considered to be the free sample. (Tr. at 30-33, 
60-61, 92, 96).   

 
 Dr. Berkman testified that AstraZeneca’s pricing specials would vary from month to month.  

Eventually, Dr. Berkman began attempting to stabilize the price by negotiating contracts 
with the sales representatives. (Tr. at 32-33, 59-61).  For example, an April 18, 1997, 
contract stated:  

 
I, Ron R. Villa, as a representative of [Astra]Zeneca Pharmaceutical will 
continue to give a 12.5 percent discount above the volume discount price.  
This may be given in product.  This will be for at least one year. 

 
 (Tr. at 59-60; Resp. Ex. B). 
 
 Dr. Berkman testified that it was his policy never to accept free samples from AstraZeneca, 

but that occasionally his office would receive boxes labeled as free samples as part of the 
ordered shipments.  When Dr. Berkman complained to AstraZeneca, he was advised that 
the inclusion of boxes labeled as free-samples was due to an inept shipping department.  
AstraZeneca’s representatives further advised Dr. Berkman to re-label the boxes, with 
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stickers printed and provided by AstraZeneca, to cover up the “free sample” notations. 
(Tr. at 30, 34, 38, 62, 71-72). 

 
 Dr. Berkman testified that he had refused to re-label the boxes, and requested that 

AstraZeneca re-label the boxes before shipping them to him.  However, Dr. Berkman’s 
medical assistant testified that, unbeknownst to Dr. Berkman, she had re-labeled the doses 
at Dr. Berkman’s office with labels provided to her by an AstraZeneca sales representative.  
Dr. Berkman confirmed that he had not known that this was being done at his office until 
he was informed by federal investigators. (Tr. at 42, 45-48, 56-57, 61-62, 88). 

 
 Dr. Berkman admitted that, in his thirty years of running his own practice, he had never 

received any similar discounts for any other drugs, and that no other company had ever 
suggested re-labeling free samples. (Tr. at 27, 71-72, 89-90, 93-97). 

 
6. The government alleged in Dr. Berkman’s Information that he billed for the free samples to 

increase his income.  Dr. Berkman testified that, during the time of his association with 
AstraZeneca, his practice had been financially thriving.  He had more than one thousand 
patients and his practice grossed about five or six hundred thousand dollars per year.  
Dr. Berkman testified that he had not needed to increase his income. (Tr. at 35, 37, 88; 
St. Ex. 2 at 3; St. Ex. 5 at 1).     

 
7. Dr. Berkman is also licensed to practice medicine in New York and New Jersey.  The 

medical boards of those states have already taken action against Dr. Berkman based on his 
felony conviction.  On March 18, 2004, the New Jersey Board of Medical Examiners issued 
a Consent Order which reprimanded Dr. Berkman and placed his license on probation for 
three years.  On April 8, 2004, the New York Board for Professional Medical Conduct 
issued a Consent Agreement and Order which censured and reprimanded Dr. Berkman, 
placed him on probation for three years, and fined him $5,000.00. (Tr. at 13, 83-86; 
Resp. Exs. O and P). 

 
8.  Dr. Berkman submitted an Affidavit which states that, despite his felony conviction, he will 

not be excluded from being a provider in the Medicare system. (Resp. Ex. Q).   
 
9. Dr. Berkman testified that he wants to stay in Ohio, and to continue to practice medicine 

here, because he loves Ohio and it is his home.  Dr. Berkman is willing to comply with any 
conditions or requirements imposed by the Board.  He is hopeful, if he is allowed to keep 
his license, that medical insurance may become more reasonable and that he will be able to 
practice again.  Alternatively, he would like to continue to teach full-time or to work as a 
staff urologist at a hospital. (Tr. at 85-87). 

 
10. Dr. Berkman submitted many letters in support, a few of which were written specifically 

for this proceeding, but most of which were written for his criminal proceeding.  The letters 
are notable for their quality and quantity.  The letters describe Dr. Berkman as an excellent 
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physician, an excellent teacher, and an excellent father, well regarded both by those who 
work with him and those whom he treats.  The letters further demonstrate that he is 
considered to be an ethical and honest physician.  The letters provide many examples of 
Dr. Berkman’s willingness to help patients above and beyond that which is necessary to 
provide medical care. (Resp. Exs. M, N1, and N2).   

 
 For instance, one patient wrote to Judge Farnan: 
 

A few years ago I had my first TIA and when [Dr. Berkman] became aware of 
this, he called me to ask if he could shop for me and bring me groceries.  We 
had a bad snow storm and he insisted that he could reach me because he drove 
a truck.  He knew that I was alone and elderly and he was concerned.  Three 
weeks later I had a second TIA and once again he personally called me to offer 
to bring me food.  I will never forget his thoughtfulness and kindness.  He is a 
very busy doctor and a good family man, but yet he took the time to call me 
and offer his help.  I will never forget this, as long as I live. 

 
 (Resp. Exs. N1 at 26). 
 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
On July 17, 2003, in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware, Robert A. 
Berkman, M.D., pleaded guilty to one felony count of Conspiracy to Violate the Prescription 
Drug Marketing Act, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.  In the 
Memorandum of Plea Agreement, Dr. Berkman stipulated that he had received more than 
$84,448.06 from billing for free or sample doses of Zoladex, which was prescribed for prostate 
cancer patients.  On November 6, 2003, Dr. Berkman was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to 
serve one year of unsupervised probation, to pay restitution in the amount of $84,448.06, and to 
pay a fine in the amount of $10,000.00. 
 

 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
The guilty plea and adjudication of guilt of Robert A. Berkman, M.D., as set forth in the Findings 
of Fact, constitutes “[a] plea of guilty to, a judicial finding of guilt of, or a judicial finding of 
eligibility for intervention in lieu of conviction for, a felony,” as that clause is used in 
Section 4731.22(B)(9), Ohio Revised Code.  
 

* * * * * 
 
Dr. Berkman admittedly committed a serious felony.  Although he testified that he unknowingly 
participated in the criminal conspiracy, ignorance of the law is not a defense.  In mitigation, 
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however, Dr. Berkman has no other criminal or disciplinary history.  He is widely regarded as 
honest, thoughtful, and caring, and the letters submitted in his support are affecting.  Further, 
Dr. Berkman is remorseful and he is extremely unlikely to ever commit a crime, or to violate any 
Board rule, in the future. 
 
 

PROPOSED ORDER 
 

It is hereby ORDERED that: 
 
A. SUSPENSION, PARTIALLY STAYED; PROBATION: The certificate of Robert A. 

Berkman, M.D., to practice medicine and surgery in the State of Ohio shall be 
SUSPENDED for an indefinite period time, but not less than one year.  All but ninety days 
of the minimum term of suspension is STAYED.  

 
B. CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT OR RESTORATION:  The Board shall not 

consider reinstatement or restoration of Dr. Berkman’s certificate to practice medicine and 
surgery until all of the following conditions have been met: 

 
1. Application for Reinstatement or Restoration:  Dr. Berkman shall submit an 

application for reinstatement or restoration, accompanied by appropriate fees, if any.   
 
2. Certification of Compliance with the Order of the New Jersey State Board of 

Medical Examiners [New Jersey Board] and the New York State Board for 
Professional Medical Conduct [New York Board]:  At the time he submits his 
application for reinstatement or restoration, Dr. Berkman shall submit to the Board 
certification from the New Jersey and New York Boards, dated no earlier than sixty 
days prior to Dr. Berkman’s application for reinstatement or restoration, that 
Dr. Berkman has maintained full compliance with the Orders of the New Jersey and 
New York Boards. 

 
3. Certification of Compliance with the Terms of Criminal Probation:  At the time 

he submits his application for reinstatement or restoration, Dr. Berkman shall submit 
to the Board certification from the United States District Court for the District of 
Delaware, dated no earlier than sixty days prior to Dr. Berkman’s application for 
reinstatement or restoration, indicating that Dr. Berkman has maintained full 
compliance with terms of probation in criminal case number 03-45. 

 
4. Additional Evidence of Fitness To Resume Practice:  In the event that 

Dr. Berkman has not been engaged in the active practice of medicine and surgery for 
a period in excess of two years prior to application for reinstatement or restoration, 
the Board may exercise its discretion under Section 4731.222 of the Revised Code to 
require additional evidence of his fitness to resume practice. 
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C. PROBATION:  Upon reinstatement or restoration, Dr. Berkman’s certificate shall be 

subject to the following PROBATIONARY terms, conditions, and limitations for a period 
of at least three years: 

 
1. Obey the Law and Terms of Criminal Probation:  Dr. Berkman shall obey all 

federal, state and local laws, and all rules governing the practice of medicine and 
surgery in Ohio, and all terms of probation imposed by the United States District 
Court of the District of Delaware in criminal case number 03-45. 

 
2. Declarations of Compliance:  Dr. Berkman shall submit quarterly declarations under 

penalty of Board disciplinary action or criminal prosecution, stating whether there has 
been compliance with all the conditions of this Order.  The first quarterly declaration 
must be received in the Board’s offices on or before the first day of the third month 
following the month in which Dr. Berkman’s certificate is restored or reinstated.  
Subsequent quarterly declarations must be received in the Board’s offices on or 
before the first day of every third month. 

 
3. Declarations of Compliance with the Terms Imposed by the New Jersey Board 

and the New York Board:  Dr. Berkman shall submit declarations under penalty of 
Board disciplinary action or criminal prosecution stating whether he has complied 
with all the terms, conditions, and limitations imposed by the New Jersey and New 
York Boards.  Moreover, Dr. Berkman shall cause to be submitted to the Board 
copies of any reports that he submits to the New Jersey and New York Boards 
whenever the New Jersey and New York Boards require such submission.  
Dr. Berkman shall ensure that the declarations of compliance with the New Jersey 
Board Consent Order and the New York Board Consent Agreement and Order and 
any copies of reports are forwarded to the Board on a quarterly basis and are received 
in the Board’s offices no later than the due date for Dr. Berkman’s quarterly 
declaration.   

 
4. Personal Appearances:  Dr. Berkman shall appear in person for an interview before 

the full Board or its designated representative during the third month following the 
month in which Dr. Berkman’s certificate is restored or reinstated, or as otherwise 
directed by the Board.  Subsequent personal appearances must occur every three 
months thereafter, and/or as otherwise requested by the Board.  If an appearance is 
missed or is rescheduled for any reason, ensuing appearances shall be scheduled 
based on the appearance date as originally scheduled. 

 
5. Professional Ethics Course:  Before the end of the first year of probation, or as 

otherwise approved by the Board, Dr. Berkman shall provide acceptable 
documentation of successful completion of a course or courses dealing with 
professional ethics.  The exact number of hours and the specific content of the course 
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or courses shall be subject to the prior approval of the Board or its designee.  Any 
courses taken in compliance with this provision shall be in addition to the Continuing 
Medical Education requirements for relicensure for the Continuing Medical 
Education acquisition period(s) in which they are completed. 

 
6. Personal Ethics Course:  Before the end of the first year of probation, or as 

otherwise approved by the Board, Dr. Berkman shall provide acceptable 
documentation of successful completion of a course or courses dealing with personal 
ethics.  The exact number of hours and the specific content of the course or courses 
shall be subject to the prior approval of the Board or its designee.  Any courses taken 
in compliance with this provision shall be in addition to the Continuing Medical 
Education requirements for relicensure for the Continuing Medical Education 
acquisition period(s) in which they are completed. 

 
7. Tolling of Probationary Period While Out of State:  In the event that Dr. Berkman 

should leave Ohio for three consecutive months, or reside or practice outside the 
State, Dr. Berkman must notify the Board in writing of the dates of departure and 
return.  Periods of time spent outside Ohio will not apply to the reduction of this 
probationary period, unless otherwise determined by motion of the Board in instances 
where the Board can be assured that the purposes of the probationary monitoring are 
being fulfilled. 

 
8. Violation of Terms of Probation:  If Dr. Berkman violates probation in any respect, 

the Board, after giving him notice and the opportunity to be heard, may institute 
whatever disciplinary action it deems appropriate, up to and including the permanent 
revocation of his certificate. 

 
D. TERMINATION OF PROBATION:  Upon successful completion of probation, as 

evidenced by a written release from the Board, Dr. Berkman’s certificate will be fully 
restored.  

 
E. REQUIRED REPORTING TO EMPLOYERS AND HOSPITALS:  Within thirty days 

of the effective date of this Order, or as otherwise determined by the Board, Dr. Berkman 
shall provide a copy of this Order to all employers or entities with which he is under 
contract to provide health care services or is receiving training; and the Chief of Staff 
at each hospital where he has privileges or appointments.  Further, Dr. Berkman shall 
provide a copy of this Order to all employers or entities with which he contracts to provide 
health care services, or applies for or receives training, and the Chief of Staff at each 
hospital where he applies for or obtains privileges or appointments.   

 
F. REQUIRED REPORTING TO OTHER STATE LICENSING AUTHORITIES:  

Within thirty days of the effective date of this Order, or as otherwise determined by the 
Board, Dr. Berkman shall provide a copy of this Order by certified mail, return receipt 
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